FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/27/2023 1:45 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 102221-2

COURT OF APPEALS, Div II, No. 57538-8-II

ROBERT S. BACKSTEIN,

Petitioner,

V.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Ron Meyers WSBA No. 13169 Matthew Johnson WSBA No. 27976 Tim Friedman WSBA No. 37983 Attorneys for Respondent

Ron Meyers & Associates, PLLC 8765 Tallon Ln. NE, Suite A Olympia, WA 98516 (360) 459-5600

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Robert Backstein.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Backstein requests that this Court grant discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion dated March 28, 2023. *See Appendix A*.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals violate Supreme Court and Appellate Court precedent by deeming that the Department of Labor and Industries' ("Department") order was "communicated" to Mr. Backstein as required by law? YES.

Did the Court of Appeals violate decades of Supreme Court and Appellate Court precedent by construing the Industrial Insurance Act ("IIA") narrowly and resolving doubts in favor of the Department of Labor & Industries? YES.

Did the Court of Appeals violate decades of Supreme Court and Appellate Court precedent that juries decide genuine issues of material fact? YES. Does this raise a significant question under the Washington State Constitution, given that Mr. Backstein has a Constitutional right to a jury trial on material facts for which there are genuine issues? YES.

The Department likely issues thousands of orders every year that accept or deny workers' IIA claims. Those orders are appealable. Those orders directly and substantially affect the worker and his/her family's health and/or welfare, as they result in or prevent essential IIA benefits. Does ensuring that those lifealtering Department orders be lawfully communicated to the workers involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court? YES.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Backstein had four IIA claims with the Department:

SE18218 ("first claim"); BC21079 ("second claim"); BC21080 ("third claim"); and BC21081 ("fourth claim").

Ron Meyers & Associates PLLC represented ("RMA")

Mr. Backstein on all four claims. *CP 5*. The Department gave

Mr. Meyers online access to all four claims. *CP 486 line 3 and CP 508-516*.

Mr. Backstein filed his fourth claim on October 25, 2017. *CP 138*. On October 26, 2017, Mr. Backstein signed a letter, a copy of which was provided to the Department. *CP 435*. That letter stated in pertinent part, "Please note that this is also a CHANGE OF ADDRESS. All correspondence should now be mailed to my attorney at the address stated below:

Ron Meyers RON MEYERS & ASSOCIATES PLLC 8765 Tallon Ln NE Ste A Olympia, WA 98516-6654

CP 450.

As of December 12, 2018, that was the last known address for Mr. Backstein as shown by the records of the Department.

On December 12, 2018, the Department mailed an order **to RMA** that rejected Mr. Backstein's third claim. *CP 134-135*. That same day, the Department also sent a letter **to RMA** discussing its rejection of Mr. Backstein's third claim. *CP 136*.

The Department sent that order and letter to RMA without obtaining or requiring an attorney-representation letter from RMA or Mr. Backstein. CP 972-973.

That <u>same day</u>, the Department mailed an order rejecting Mr. Backstein's fourth claim <u>to a Gig Harbor address</u>, which was neither RMA's address nor the last known address for Mr. Backstein as shown by the records of the Department. *CP 104-105, CP 450*.

On that same day (December 12, 2018), the Department mailed a letter to that same Gig Harbor address that contained vital information about Mr. Backstein's <u>first claim</u> (SE18218). The Department did this despite knowing that RMA was Mr. Backstein's attorney on his first claim (CP 449). That letter stated in part:

Your contention indicates you believe the coronary artery disease was caused by radiation for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. As that condition is allowed under another claim, SE18218, any conditions you feel may be related to that condition or its treatment should be contended under that claim. That is a self insured claim, therefore you will want to address

that contention with that employer (city of Kent) if you wish to pursue this matter."

CP 106. See also CP 507. That letter not only conveyed that any conditions that Mr. Backstein felt may be related to his non-Hodgkin's lymphoma or its treatment should be contended under his first claim, but it advised him to address his contention (from his fourth claim) with the self-insured employer on his first claim. This letter also conveyed that the Department rejected Mr. Backstein's fourth claim. CP 106. Had the Department mailed that letter to RMA as required, RMA would have been notified of the Department's rejection of the fourth claim.

Three months earlier (September 24, 2018), the Department imported 775 pages of claim history documents from Mr. Backstein's first claim file into his fourth claim file. *CP* 457-462.

On November 4, 2019, RMA was informed that a December 12, 2018, order had been issued in Mr. Backstein's fourth claim. *CP 1702*. RMA immediately filed a protest. *CP*

472-478.

On November 21, 2019, the Department issued a Notice of Decision that it "cannot reconsider the order dated 12/12/2018 because the protest was not received within the 60 day time limitation. That order is final and binding." *CP 448*.

The sixty-day protest period does not begin to run until the Department has lawfully communicated its order. Here, the Department did not lawfully communicate its rejection order in Mr. Backstein's fourth claim. On November 20, 2019, the Department issued a letter on Mr. Backstein's fourth claim in response to RMA's November 4, 2019, protest. *CP 893*. In that letter, the Department stated that it, "cannot reconsider the order dated 12/12/2018 because the protest was not received within the 60 day time limitation." *CP 893*. In that letter, which was written to Mr. Backstein but addressed to RMA, the Department also stated in part,

NOTE: There is no notice of attorney representation for Claim BC21081 in any of your claim files. If you are being represented by an

attorney on this claim, BC21081, please submit a signed notice of representation to the department so any future communications regarding BC 21081 will be sent to the correct location without delay.

CP 893.

Superior Court:

Mr. Backstein appealed to the Superior Court the Board's Decision & Order that affirmed the Department's rejection of Mr. Backstein's fourth claim. CP 1-13. Having reviewed the records and heard oral argument, the Superior Court found that the Department's failure to serve a copy of its December 12, 2018, Notice of Decision on Mr. Backstein's attorney amounts to a substantial injustice to Mr. Backstein. The Superior Court concluded that Mr. Backstein's protest and his appeal were timely. CP 1647-1649. The Superior Court reversed the Board's Decision & Order and remanded the case back to the Department to reconsider its December 12, 2018, Notice of Decision. *CP 1726-1730*.

Appellate Court:

The Department appealed. On March 28, 2023, Division II of the Court of Appeals issued its unpublished opinion. That opinion violated decades of Supreme Court and Appellate Court precedent on well-settled, yet significant, legal doctrine. That opinion applies the wrong law. That opinion affects how a monolithic state agency must communicate appealable orders of substantial importance to Washington workers. It is of substantial public interest.

V. ARGUMENT

First: The Appellate Court's holding revolves entirely around its determination that, "[...] Backstein did not follow the written procedure under RCW 51.04.080". *Backstein v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, No. 57538-8-II, 2023 WL 2660432, at *7 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 28, 2023).

That cannot be accurate because there is **no** written procedure under RCW 51.04.080 for Backstein to follow with

respect to service of orders appealable to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals ("Board").

The Court held that, "More importantly, here there no doubt or confusion, about the plain meaning and requirements of RCW 51.04.080, [...]." *Backstein, id.*, at 7. If RCW 51.04.080 is clear and its meaning doubtless, it is only clear and doubtless in that it does not apply to notices, orders or payments made after a Board-appealable order has been entered.

RCW 51.04.080:

On all claims under this title, claimants' written notices, orders, or payments must be forwarded directly to the claimant <u>until such time as</u> there has been entered an order on the claim appealable to the board of industrial insurance appeals. Claimants' written notices, orders, or payments may be forwarded to the claimant in care of a representative <u>before</u> an order has been entered if the claimant sets forth in writing the name and address of the representative to whom the claimant desires this information to be forwarded. [Emph. added].

Rule: A reviewing court is required, whenever possible, to give effect to every word in a statute. *City of Olympia v. Drebick*, 156 Wash. 2d 289, 295, 126 P.3d 802 (2006).

The statute (RCW 51.04.080) uses the language, "until such time as there has been entered an order on the claim appealable to the [Board]." and "before an order has been entered [...]" [Emph added]. The Appellate Court did not give effect to this language.

This statute is <u>silent</u> as to the service of notices, orders, or payments <u>after</u> a Board-appealable order has been entered. To conclude that this statute also includes requirements for service <u>after</u> entry of a Board-appealable order would require the Court to construe the statute to mean something other than what it says.

The facts underlying this appeal are <u>not</u> about the propriety of serving a document before the entry of a Board-appealable order. The facts are about the propriety of serving a Board-appealable order (the 12/12/18 Notice of Decision). RCW 51.04.080, as written, does <u>not apply</u> to service of Board-appealable orders.

Rule: When the plain language is unambiguous, the legislative intent is apparent, and the Court **will not** construe the

statute otherwise. [Emph added]. *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wash. 2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003).

Rule: "If the language is unambiguous, a reviewing court is to <u>rely solely</u> on the statutory language." [Emph added]. *State* v. *Roggenkamp*, 153 Wash. 2d 614, 621, 106 P.3d 196 (2005).

Because the Appellate Court concluded that RCW 51.04.080 applies to service of a Board-appealable order even though there is no statutory language in RCW 51.04.080 addressing the service of Board-appealable orders, the Court engaged in statutory construction.

Rule: When a court construes any provision within the Industrial Insurance Act ("IIA"), a two-part rule is triggered which courts must follow: (1) the Court must construe the IIA liberally in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment; and (2) all doubts as to how to construe the IIA must be resolved in favor of the worker. *Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State of Wash.*, 109 Wn.2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295

(1987); Michaels v. CH2M Hill, Inc., 171 Wn.2d 587, 598, 257 P.3d 532 (2011); Spivey v. City of Bellevue, 187 Wash. 2d 716, 726, 389 P.3d 504 (2017); Johnson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 16 Wn.App 2d 254, 259, 480 P.3d 497 (2021).

The Appellate Court applied the wrong statute and it erroneously concluded that RCW 51.04.080 "establishes the procedure that the Department must follow in sending notices, orders, and payments to claimants."

RCW 51.04.080 has specific language about how to serve orders that were made **prior to** the entry of a Board-appealable order, but it has **no** language (let alone a procedure) about service of Board-appealable orders.

The only way to make RCW 51.04.080 apply to a Board-appealable order is to construe the statute to mean something other than, or in addition to, what it says.

In the same vein of this erroneous construction of RCW 51.04.080, the Appellate Court also held that, "The Department did not have the authority, under RCW 51.04.080, to send the

notice to Backstein's attorney." *Backstein, id.*, at 6. If by "did not have the authority, under RCW 51.04.080" the Appellate Court meant that RCW 51.04.080 "barred" the Department from sending the notice to Mr. Backstein's attorney, that is incorrect. The "notice" to which the Appellate Court refers was the December 12, 2018, Notice of Decision, which was a Boardappealable order. RCW 51.04.080, does <u>not</u> bar the Department from serving that notice on Mr. Backstein's attorney. It does not even address how to serve Board-appealable orders.

The Appellate Court also held that, "The Department followed RCW 51.04.080 in not sending the December 12, 2018 rejection order to Backstein's attorney." *Backstein id.*, at 5. That holding is based on the erroneous determination that RCW 51.04.080 applies to Board-appealable orders – a determination that is the product either of creating legislation or construing RCW 51.04.080 narrowly and resolving doubt in the Department's favor, not the worker's.

Rule: It is not the role of the judiciary to inject language into a statute. Johnson v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., id.

Rule: Our state constitution gives the legislature the power to legislate, not the judiciary. *State v. Ward*, 148 Wash. 2d 803, 817, 64 P.3d 640 (2003).

The Appellate Court also dismissed the fact that the Department imported into Mr. Backstein's fourth claim 775 pages of his claim history from Mr. Backstein's first claim. The Appellate Court dismissed this fact by mistakenly determining that RCW 51.04.080, "provides a specific procedure that the claimant must follow in order for the Department to be authorized to send an order to the claimant's representative." *Backstein, id.*, at 6.

That "procedure" pertains only to notices, orders or payments made **prior to** entry of an order. *See RCW 51.04.080*Nothing in RCW 51.04.080 restricts or removes the Department's authority to send a Board-appealable order to the worker's attorney.

In summary, the Appellate Court's decision about whether the Board was required to have served Mr. Backstein's attorney with the December 12, 2018, Board-appealable Notice of Decision was based on a statute that is **silent** on that issue. In the absence of actual statutory language addressing the issue, the Appellate Court was left with resolving doubt – doubt about whether and how to apply that statue to these facts. The Appellate Court chose to construe the statute narrowly and the Court's doubt was held in favor of the government, not the worker. That decision was error and the opposite for how the Supreme Court mandates that all courts construe the IIA.

That decision violated decades of Supreme Court and Appellate Court precedent for how to construe the IIA.

Whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers, and whether the issue is likely to recur are particularly determinative factors when deciding if a case presents matters of continuing and substantial

public interest. *Eyman v. Ferguson*, 7 Wash. App. 2d 312, 320, 433 P.3d 863 (2019). Those two factors exist here.

The Department's conduct is likely to recur, as the Department likely issues thousands of rejection orders every year, spanning across thousands of worker's compensation claims. The Supreme Court's determination here is highly desirable to provide future guidance to the Department. This case is a perfect example, as the Department relies on a statute for serving a Board-appealable order when that statute does not apply to serving Board-appealable orders. As a result, the Department failed to send RMA the rejection order – despite the fact that RMA was representing Mr. Backstein on all of his claims and would have timely protested if the Department properly communicated its order.

Second: The Appellate Court also made a significant error when it stated that, "It is undisputed that the Department sent the rejection order to Backstein at his last known address [. . .] on December 12, 2018." *Backstein, id.*, at 6. Presumably, the Court

used the phrase "his last known address" to mean the address on the October 25, 2017, Report of Accident – the Gig Harbor address.

That address cannot be the Department's "last known address" for Mr. Backstein, because on October 26, 2017, Mr. Backstein signed a letter, which was provided to the Department, which provided a change of address. *CP 450*. As far as the Department was concerned, Mr. Backstein's last known address was as set forth in that letter. He signed that letter more recently in time than the Report of Accident. The Appellate Court failed to discuss or even mentioned this material fact in its opinion.

Instead, the Appellate Court adopted as true the incorrect fact that the Department sent the December 12, 2018, order to Mr. Backstein's "last known address" – when in fact, it had not.

The Significant Board Decision of *In re David Herring*, BIIA Dec., 57,831 (1981), pertains to the Department's service of closing orders, which are Board-appealable orders. The Board publishes its significant decisions and makes them available to

the public. "These decisions are nonbinding, but persuasive authority for this Court." O'Keefe v. State, Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 126 Wash. App. 760, 766, 109 P.3d 484 (2005).

It its significant decision of *In re David Herring*, *id.*, the Board cited RCW 51.52.050, not RCW 51.04.080, and concluded that, "The law [RCW 51.52.050] requires that the Department's closing orders be sent to the worker (or implicitly his or her authorized representative) at his last known address "as shown by the records of the department." RCW 51.52.050". [Emph added]. *id.*, at 2. The Board further ruled that to be "communicated", copies of the orders or actual knowledge of the contents and meaning of the orders "must be directed to the last known address of the claimant (or his authorized representative as shown by the Department's records)." *Id*.

The Board in *In re David Herring* noted that the Department "had the claimant's change-of-address in its records" and it then stated, "Whether the claimant did <u>in fact</u> receive copies of the orders at his home is not critical to

resolution of this appeal since they were issued after a change of address was filed with the Department." [Emph in original] *Id.*, at 2. The Board held that, "Under these circumstances, we hold that the Department's final order dated August 11, 1978, in Claim No. G-326610, and its final order dated December 21, 1978, in claim No. G-292702, were not legally "communicated" at the claimant's last known address and therefore have remained viable and subject to appeal." *Id.*, at 2. The Board held that the appeals filed by the claimant as to both claims on October 7, 1980 were timely. *Id.*, at 3.

RCW 51.52.050(1) states in pertinent part that, "Whenever the department has made any order, decision, or award, it shall promptly serve the worker, beneficiary, employer, or other person affected thereby, with a copy thereof by mail, or if the worker, beneficiary, employer, or other person affected thereby chooses, the department may send correspondence and other legal notices by secure electronic means except for orders communicating the closure of a claim."

In *In re Chambers Bay Golf Course*, BIIA Dec., 0920604 (2010), the Board held, "We are persuaded by these decisions that to be a "person aggrieved" by a decision of the Department, as that term is used in RCW 51.52.050 and RCW 51.52.060, requires that the person have a proprietary, pecuniary, or personal right which is substantially affected by the Department's determination. *Id.*, *at* 3.

Mr. Backstein's attorney was clearly an "other person affected thereby" – as RMA had a proprietary right (as counsel on all four of his presumptive disease claims) and a pecuniary right (as RMA had a statutory and contractual right to attorney fees and costs that were substantially affected by the Department's rejection of his claim. RCW 51.32.185).

Here, the last known address as shown by the Department's records at the time the Department mailed the December 12, 2018, order, was the address on Mr. Backstein's October 26, 2017 letter – which happened to be the address of his attorney's office, RMA. *CP 450*.

The fact that this letter only referenced his second claim is immaterial. It was the last known address "as shown by the Department's records". The Department had that in its records and yet it mailed the Board-appealable order to Mr. Backstein, not his attorney. This injustice will continue to occur unless the Department receives this Court's guidance. The Department must look at <u>all</u> of its records to determine the last known address for its claimant.

By failing to send the claim-rejection order to Mr. Backstein's last known address, the Department had not "communicated" the order as required by law, and the orders remained viable and subject to appeal when they were protested by Mr. Backstein's attorney.

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