FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/26/2023 8:15 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102221-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT S. BACKSTEIN,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Paul Weideman Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 42254 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389–3820

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Backstein cannot establish any RAP 13.4(b) criteria for review. The Court of Appeals' routine application of RCW

51.04.080's plain language and its fact-specific analysis that Backstein could show no equitable basis excusing an untimely appeal conflict with no appellate court decision, involve no significant constitutional issue, and do not present a matter of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b).

A. The Court Should Decline to Consider Backstein's Untimely Arguments

The Court should decline to consider arguments

Backstein waived by waiting to raise them until oral argument
and his motion for reconsideration at the Court of Appeals.

Appellate courts generally do not consider such arguments.

Swank v. Valley Christian Sch., 188 Wn.2d 663, 675 n.6, 398

P.3d 1108 (2017) (declining to address argument raised for first time at oral argument); 1515–1519 Lakeview Boulevard Condo.

Ass'n v. Apartment Sales Corp., 146 Wn.2d 194, 203 n.4, 43

P.3d 1233 (2002) (declining to address argument not raised until motion for reconsideration at Court of Appeals); Holder v.

City of Vancouver, 136 Wn. App. 104, 107, 147 P.3d 641

(2006) (describing how party abandons issue by failing to brief it).

Most of the petition consists of these arguments. These include arguments that RCW 51.04.080 does not apply to Board-appealable orders (Pet. 8-16); that Backstein changed his last known address on all claims by sending a letter in one of his claims (Pet. 17-21); that his attorney is an aggrieved party (Pet. 20); that a letter in the fourth claim referred to the first claim, so it should have been sent to his attorney (Pet. 22), and that a jury should decide whether L&I made a mistake by sending Meyers the rejection order in the third claim (Pet. 25).

Backstein made none of these arguments in his respondent's brief at the Court of Appeals, so they are abandoned. *See* RB at 1-7. Instead, he argued that L&I was on "constructive notice" that Meyers represented Backstein in the fourth claim and that L&I established a "practice and procedure" for all of his claims. RB at 4-5. As *infra* Part IV.C

explains, these arguments are incorrect and present no reason for review.

In any case, none of Backstein's untimely arguments presents an issue warranting review. *See infra* Part IV.D.

B. Backstein Cannot Show that the Court of Appeals' Application of RCW 51.04.080 Conflicts with Any Appellate Decision or Presents an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Even if this Court considers RCW 51.04.080's written authorization requirement, the Court of Appeals applied it correctly. Citing liberal construction, Backstein incorrectly argues that the court's plain language application "violate[s] decades of Supreme Court and Appellate Court precedent by construing the [Act] narrowly and resolving doubts in favor of [L&I]." Pet. 1, 8, 15. But courts only liberally construe ambiguous statutes; here, there is no ambiguity. *Harris v. Dep't*

of Lab. & Indus., 120 Wn.2d 461, 474, 843 P.2d 1056 (1993).

No conflict exists.

RCW 51.04.080 is unambiguous. If a claimant wants

L&I to send notices, orders, and payments to any
representative, the claimant's written authorization is needed:

On all claims under this title, claimants' written notices, orders, or payments must be forwarded directly to the claimant until such time as there has been entered an order on the claim appealable to the board of industrial insurance appeals. Claimants' written notices, orders, or payments may be forwarded to the claimant in care of a representative before an order has been entered if the claimant sets forth in writing the name and address of the representative to whom the claimant desires this information to be forwarded.

RCW 51.04.080.

RCW 51.04.080's first sentence unambiguously requires that L&I send notices, orders, and payments "directly to the claimant until" L&I enters an appealable order in the claim.

This ensures that any interlocutory notice, order, or payment will go directly to the claimant and that the claimant will receive the first appealable order. Because RCW 51.04.080

requires that these be forwarded "directly to the claimant," this first sentence establishes a general rule that L&I cannot send these decisions to anyone but the claimant.

The statute's second sentence creates an exception to this general rule, providing the claimant a mechanism to ask L&I to send orders to a representative. The request must be "in writing" and identify the representative's name and address.

RCW 51.04.080. This language is also unambiguous.

As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, L&I followed RCW 51.04.080, sending the order on the fourth claim directly to Backstein, as he had provided no written authorization for that claim. *Backstein*, slip op. at 10. Backstein asserts, in a conclusory fashion and without citation to the record, that Meyers represented him "on all of his claims." Pet. 16. But the record belies this assertion: it includes only two written authorizations—one for the first claim and one for the second claim. CP 446-47, 449-50. Backstein did not send any written authorizations for the third or fourth claims.

Backstein argues that RCW 51.04.080 does not apply because the facts here concern "the propriety of serving a Board-appealable order (the 12/12/18 Notice of Decision)." Pet. 10. But the Court need not consider Backstein's untimely argument that RCW 51.04.080 "does not apply to notices, orders, or payments made after a Board-appealable order has been entered." Pet. 9 (emphasis omitted).

Even if the Court considers this belated statutory argument, it is wrong. Key to RCW 51.04.080's application here, the rejection order in the fourth claim was the first Board-appealable order in the claim. CP 457-60. RCW 51.04.080's first sentence contemplates that L&I will forward the first Board-appealable order directly to the claimant. The phrase "has been entered" is in the present-perfect tense. *See The Chicago Manual of Style* § 5.132, at 268 (The University of Chicago Press, 17th ed. 2017); *see also Est. of Bunch v. McGraw Residential Ctr.*, 174 Wn.2d 425, 433-34, 275 P.3d 1119 (2012) (considering present-perfect tense in plain

language analysis). The present-perfect tense "denotes an act, state, or condition that is now completed or continues up to the present." *The Chicago Manual of Style* § 5.132, at 268. "Until" means "up to the time that : up to such time as." Until, *Merriam-Webster.com*, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/until (last visited Sept. 24, 2023). So it is "up to the time" that entry of the first Board-appealable order is "now completed" that L&I must send orders directly to the claimant. That necessarily includes the first Board-appealable order because entry of that order is not "completed" until L&I issues it.

Consistent with this interpretation, the Court of Appeals has previously applied RCW 51.04.080 to a rejection order. *Smith v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 22 Wn. App. 2d 500, 511, 512 P.3d 566, *review denied*, 200 Wn.2d 1013, 519 P.3d 588 (2022). Backstein is thus wrong that "there is no statutory language in RCW 51.04.080 addressing the service of Boardappealable orders." Pet. 11. RCW 51.08.040's first sentence

addresses such service, requiring L&I to send the first Board-appealable order "directly to the claimant" unless the claimant has sent a written authorization to L&I, as RCW 51.04.080's second sentence allows.

Backstein argues that RCW 51.04.080 does not address how L&I is to serve notices, orders, and payments *after* L&I has issued a Board-appealable order. Pet. 10. To make this argument, he relies on the word "before" in the statute's second sentence to argue the "statute is silent as to the service of notices, orders, or payments after a Board-appealable order." Pet. 10 (emphasis omitted). But that sentence is easily harmonized with RCW 51.04.080's first sentence. That is because, by necessity, L&I must receive any written authorization *before* it issues an order (including the first appealable order). Otherwise, L&I would not know to forward an order to a claimant's representative.

L&I acknowledges that RCW 51.04.080 does not explicitly address whether all Board-appealable orders issued

after the first Board-appealable order must be forwarded directly to the claimant. But that is of no concern here, as this case involves the first Board-appealable order on Backstein's fourth claim. See CP 443-44, 457-60. As such, Backstein is wrong that RCW 51.04.080 "is silent as to the service of notices, orders, or payments after a Board-appealable order has been entered" and that a court would "construe the statute to mean something other than what it says" by concluding that RCW 51.04.080 "includes requirements for service after entry of a Board-appealable order." Pet. 10 (emphasis omitted). He is wrong because the statute explicitly addresses service of the first Board-appealable order by using "until" and the presentperfect tense, as discussed above. *Contra* Pet. 10. So the statute is not silent as he says, as it encompasses the first Boardappealable order. That resolves this case, as this case involves the first Board-appealable order.

The Court of Appeals applied RCW 51.04.080 correctly.

It did not legislate. *Contra* Pet. 14. Backstein shows no conflict

with cases applying liberal construction because RCW 51.04.080 is unambiguous. Nor is there a matter of substantial public interest to "provide future guidance to public officers" for an "issue [that] is likely to recur." Pet. 15. No guidance is needed when RCW 51.04.080 is unambiguous. Every year, claimants send L&I thousands of written authorizations, without confusion.

C. Backstein's Fact-Specific Arguments, Which the Court of Appeals Rejected, Show No Basis for Review

Backstein also re-argues two theories that the Court of Appeals rejected: (1) that L&I established a "practice and procedure" for his claims by sending the rejection order in the

¹ If there were an ambiguity, L&I's interpretation favors workers, not Backstein's. Under L&I's interpretation, the claimant would be sent the initial allowance or rejection order directly (absent a written authorization). This protects claimants, ensuring that they can exercise their appeal rights to the initial Board-appealable order. Backstein's interpretation would leave claimants in limbo, making it unclear to whom L&I should send the initial appealable order. Backstein's interpretation also does not make sense in the context of the statutory scheme, which requires L&I to serve all orders on workers under RCW 51.52.050(1) at their last known address. That's what L&I did here.

third claim to Meyers and (2) that importing claim history documents from the first and second claims into the fourth claim put L&I on notice that he was represented. Pet. 14, 29. He does not explain how these fact-specific claims warrant review under RAP 13.4. They do not.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that, even though L&I mistakenly sent an order on the third claim to Meyers, L&I still had to follow RCW 51.04.080 and send the rejection order in the fourth claim directly to Backstein. *Backstein*, slip op. at 10. Meyers had voluntarily communicated with L&I about the third claim, which could explain why L&I mistakenly sent the order in the third claim to Meyers. CP 451. But as the Court of Appeals determined, "there is no precedent for requiring the Department to repeat a mistake on one claim that it made on another." *Backstein*, slip op. at 10.

Backstein, in a new argument, contends that the Court of Appeals' statement that L&I made a mistake "usurped the role of the jury" because a jury should decide whether L&I's action

was mistaken or purposeful. Pet. 22, 25. He then claims this violates his right to a trial by jury under the state constitution. Pet. 25 (citing Const. art. I, § 21).

This is a red herring. Why L&I sent the order to Meyers on the third claim is legally irrelevant. This appeal involves the *fourth* claim and whether RCW 51.04.080 allowed L&I to send the rejection order to anyone besides Backstein. What L&I did in Backstein's other claims does not matter, which is why the Court of Appeals also rejected Backstein's argument that L&I's action in his third claim created a "custom and practice" for all his claims. *Backstein*, slip op. at 10-11. The Court of Appeals did not "choose sides on a material fact." *Contra* Pet. 23. Why L&I sent the rejection order in the third claim to Meyers is not material to the fourth claim. *Contra* Pet. 23.

A jury does not need to decide an irrelevant fact, so no jury trial right is implicated here. What's more, Backstein ignores that he filed a motion for summary judgment in this case. CP 818-35. At no time before his motion for

reconsideration at the Court of Appeals did he suggest a jury should weigh in on whether L&I's action on the third claim should be considered a mistake. *See* CP 818-35, 846-48, 884-89, 1587-1615; RB at 1-7; Resp't's Mot. Recons. at 11-12. This argument has no merit.

D. Backstein Cannot Show His Untimely Arguments at the Court of Appeals Present Any Reason for Review

Backstein re-raises several arguments he did not raise *timely* at the Court of Appeals, without explaining how any of them meet RAP 13.4 criteria. Even if the Court considers them, none offers a basis for review.

Last known address. Backstein argues that Meyers' October 26, 2017 letter, which explicitly references only his second claim (BC-21079), changed his "last known address" for his fourth claim (BC-21081). Pet. 17 (citing CP 450). But Backstein's argument turns on selectively quoting the second paragraph and ignoring the rest of the letter. Pet. 3. The full letter shows it applies only to the second claim:



RON MEYERS & ASSOCIATES / PLACE

AUTORNEYS & COUNSELORS OF LAW

8765 Tallon La NE + Ste A + Lacey WA 98516 + P 360 459 5600 + F 360 459 5622 + www.roumeyerslaw.net

October 26, 2017

Kevin Kincade Berkley Risk Administrative Company PO Box 88842 Scattle, WA 9 '8138

Claim No.

: BC21079 : Robert S. Backstein : 12/5/2016 Claimant DOI

Dear Ms. Fleischman:

Please be advised that Ron Meyers of RON MEYERS & ASSOCIATES PLLC is appearing as my attorney in this matter. This document authorizes my attorney to examine, without limitation, my claim file under the above claim number. Please provide my attorney with current copies of all records and provide for online claims imaging access regarding my claim.

Please note that this is also A CHANGE OF ADDRESS. All correspondence should now be mailed to my attorney at the address stated below:

Ron Meyers RON MEYERS & ASSOCIATES PLLC 8765 Tallon Ln NE Ste A Olympia, WA 98516-6654

This notice revokes all prior notices regarding attorneys.

DATED this 24 day of October 2017.

Ron Legros, Department of Labor and Industries, PO Box 44291, Olympia, WA 98504-4291

CP 450.

On its face, the letter says it applies to one claim—the second claim. The "Re:" line lists only the second claim (BC-21079). CP 450. The first paragraph says that Meyers "is appearing as my attorney in this matter" and authorizes him to examine "my claim file *under the above claim number*." CP 450 (emphasis added). Backstein characterizes the second paragraph as a "stand-alone section" that changed his address for all claims. Pet. 24. But no reasonable reader, including L&I, would read the paragraph in isolation and ignore all the other language stating it is claim-specific. Such a reading would also curtail claimants' rights to choose whether to pay costs associated with representation for their other claims. *See Smith*, 22 Wn. App. 2d 500, 509-10 (explaining that the written authorization requirement in RCW 51.04.080 "encourages claimants themselves to decide whether they pay the costs associated with representation").²

So the last known address for Backstein on the fourth claim, as shown by L&I's records, was the address he wrote on

² Backstein cites *In re David Herring*, Nos. 57,831 & 57,830, 1981 WL 375943 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. App. July 30, 1981), but that case is different because there the claimant *did* send a written change of address for the specific claim but it "did not get into the Department's computer." 1981 WL 375943, at *2. *Contra* Pet. 17-19.

his report of accident for the fourth claim. *See* RCW 51.52.050(1). L&I correctly sent the order to Backstein there.

Attorney as aggrieved party. Backstein argues that Meyers was an "aggrieved" party with appeal rights under RCW 51.52.050(1), which requires L&I to "serve the worker, beneficiary, employer, *or other person affected thereby*" with orders. (Emphasis added). He argues Meyers is a "person affected thereby." Pet. 20

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